NO. 9/994-1

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

JEFFREY R. MCKEE, Petitioner

v.

A) IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jeffrey McKee, plaintiff in the underlying action, seeks review of the decision described in Part B, below.

B) COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. McKee requests this Court accept review of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division I's June 22, 2015 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and May 18, 2015 affirmation the dismissal of *McKee v. King County*, Snohomish County Superior Court Case No. 12-2-08128-8.

C) ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court grant review where an opinion of a Court of Appeals panel found Mr. McKee to be the prevailing party in a Public Records Act judicial review, but not entitled to costs due to his inmate status, in conflict with decisions of this Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals? RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).
- 2. Assuming this Court accepts review, is Mr. McKee entitled to costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with seeking this review.

D) STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 1, 2011, Petitioner Jeffrey McKee mailed a public records request to Respondent King County's prosecuting attorney's office,

requesting "[t]he complete case file in *State v. McKee*, King County

Superior Court Cause No. 03-1-01734-1 KNT," as well as more specific requests for "audio and/or video recordings," "deals made and/or agreements made and/or payments made to any of the alleged victims" and "phone recordings" related to the same case. CP 96. At that time, Mr. McKee was incarcerated at "Coyote Ridge Corrections Center." *Id.* On December 27, 2011, King County responded to Mr. McKee, indicating it had "identified 2177 pages of documents that are responsive to [his] request." CP 114. One of those records, identified as "KCDAD Booking Sheets," was withheld in its entirety as a "[j]ail record" pursuant to "RCW 70.48.100." CP 114, 59.

On November 12, 2012, Mr. McKee filed a "Public Records Complaint" against King County under Snohomish County Superior Court Case No. 12-2-08128-8. CP 89-90. On June 17, 2013, King County moved to dismiss pursuant to CR 56. CP 73-82. On July 10, 2013, in its reply brief, King County acknowledged the KCDAD Booking Sheets were not exempt under RCW 70.48.100 if it had "written permission" from Mr. McKee, but argued Mr. McKee's public records request did not constitute such written permission. CP 22-23. King County, however, did consider Mr. McKee's response to King County's summary judgment motion to constitute "written permission," and "mailed the jail record to [Mr.

McKee] along with [its] reply." CP 23, fn. 5. On August 21, 2013, the Court "granted" King County's "motion for summary judgment dismissal" and ordered that "[a]ll remaining claims against [King County] in this action are dismissed with prejudice." CP 5-6.

On September 19, 2013, Mr. McKee, still an inmate at Coyote Ridge Corrections Center, signed, dated, and placed a Notice of Appeal in the Washington State Department of Corrections' internal mail system. CP 1. The Notice of Appeal was filed with the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division I on September 25, 2013. *Id.*

On May 18, 2015, Judge Becker wrote in an unpublished opinion for the Court of Appeals that the "superior court decision to dismiss a Public Records Act case" was "affirm[ed]." *McKee v. King County*, No. 70901-1-I, slip op. at 1 (Ct. App. May 18, 2015); appx. 9-14. The Court of Appeals acknowledged "[a] person's [public records] request for his own booking record amounts to written permission." *Id.* at 3 (citing *Sargent v. Seattle Police Dept.*, 167 Wn. App. 1, 20 (2011), *aff'd in part & rev'd in part*, 179 Wn.2d 376 (2013)). The Court of Appeals went on to indicate the only "point in further proceedings requested by McKee would be for an assessment of penalties against the County." *Id.* And the Court of Appeals held that "under these circumstances, there is no basis for finding that the County acted in bad faith by withholding the jail booking record."

Id. at 4. Therefore, the Court of Appeals reasoned, because "[a]n inmate may be awarded penalties under the Public Records Act only if 'the court finds that the agency acted in bad faith in denying the person an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record," further proceedings are unnecessary. Id. at 3 (citing RCW 42.56.565(1)).

On June 5, 2015, Mr. McKee filed a Motion for Reconsideration.

Appx. 15-18. On June 22, 2015, the Court of Appeals "denied" Mr.

McKee's "motion for reconsideration." Appx. 19.

Discretionary review is now sought under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

E) ARGUMENT

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals." RAP 13.4(b).

"Any person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy any public record...shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action." RCW 42.56.550(4). Whether a party is "'prevailing' relates to the legal question of whether the records should have been disclosed *on request.*" *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 726 (2011) (emphasis in

original) "Subsequent events do not affect the wrongfulness of the agency's initial action to withhold the records if the records were wrongfully withheld at the time." *Id.* "[T]he remedial provisions of the PRA are triggered when an agency fails to properly disclose and produce records, and any intervening disclosure [does not] eviscerate the remedial provisions altogether." *Id.* at 727.

Furthermore, "prevailing party status [under the Public Records Act is not conditioned on the requester] causing the disclosure." *Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103 (2005). Prevailing party status is not conditioned on whether the requester "substantially prevail[s]." *Id.* at fn. 10; *see also* RCW 42.56.550(4) ("Any person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy *any* public record" is a prevailing party entitled to "costs, including reasonable attorney fees") (emphasis added). Prevailing party status is not conditioned on a "showing of bad faith." *Id.* at 101. And prevailing party status is not conditioned on whether any penalty is awarded. *Francis v. Dept. of Corrections*, 178 Wn. App. 42, 67 (2013). "[T]he PRA's cost-shifting provision is mandatory." *Id.* at 65.

Here, the Court of Appeals essentially held Mr. McKee was the prevailing party in finding King County wrongfully withheld the jail booking record. *McKee*, No. 70901-1-I, slip op. at 2-3. That the Court of

Appeals also found "no basis for a finding that the County acted in bad faith by withholding the jail booking record" does not affect Mr. McKee's prevailing party status. *Id.* at 4. Moreover, that King County subsequently produced the jail booking record does not affect Mr. McKee's prevailing party status. Furthermore, that the Court of Appeals held King County's claims of exemption as to other records were held appropriate does not affect Mr. McKee's prevailing party status. Finally, that the Court of Appeals held Mr. McKee is not entitled to penalties does not affect Mr. McKee's prevailing party status. And yet the Court of Appeals, by affirming the superior court's dismissal and declining to remand for further proceedings, essentially held that although Mr. McKee is the prevailing party, he is not entitled to costs.

And as the prevailing party, Mr. McKee is entitled to costs, including attorney fees. RCW 42.56.550(4). Therefore, further proceedings are necessary, even if penalties are inappropriate; and the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Additionally, "[a]ny person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy any public record...shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action." RCW 42.56.550(4). A

prevailing party must also be awarded costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in bringing an appeal or discretionary review. *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Wash.*, 114 Wn.2d 677, 690 (1990); *see also Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*, 165 Wn.2d 439, 461-62 (2009). Here, Mr. McKee is the prevailing party. Thus, he is entitled to costs, including reasonable attorney fees, and including costs and attorney fees incurred in seeking this review. If the Court accepts review, an affidavit of fees and expenses will be filed pursuant to RAP 18.1.

F) CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, petitioner Jeffrey McKee respectfully requests the Court grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), and award costs, including attorney fees, incurred in this action.