I. ISSUE PRESENTED 

Should· the Petition for Review be denied where Petitioner fails to 

show the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with a decision of this Court 

or any division of the Court of Appeals in this state? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case concerns Jeffrey R. McKee's 2011 public disclosure 

request to the King County Prosecutor's Office (County) for copies of 

documents in the Prosecutor's litigation file for McKee's criminal case, 

State v. McKee, No. 03-1-1734-1 KNT. CP 40. In response to the request, 

the County collected, reviewed, and scanned 2,177 pages to a CD. CP 37, 

48, 54. Though the documents were made available to McKee in 

December 2011, to thi~ day, he still has not paid for the records. CP 37, 

54. 

Instead, McKee sued the County under the Public Records Act 

(PRA). McKee argued the County's scanning fee was too high, that the 

County did not timely respond to his request, and that many of the 

documents listed on the County's exemption log were improperly 

withheld from disclosure. CP 89-90, 63-64. The trial court dismissed all 

these claims and in an unpublished opinion the Court of Appeals affirmed. 

CP 63-64, 5-6; App. A (Unpublished Opinion). 
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The sole issue raised in McKee's Petition for Review concerns 

access to a two-page jail booking record. This record was listed on the 

County's exemption log which McKee received in December 2011. 

CP 59. The County listed the record, citing the confidentiality 

requirements in RCW 70.48.1 00, which state that jail booking records can 

only be released for specified purposes or "upon the written permission of 

the person." CP 59. 

Despite knowing that the jail booking record was listed on the 

County's exemption log, McKee did not specifically reference it in his 

complaint. CP 89-90. Neither did he mention it in his response to the 

County's first summary judgment motion. And on February 28,2013, 

when the County served McKee with a single interrogatory asking him to 

identify the documents he believed were improperly withheld from 

· disclosure, McKee was silent. CP 60-61, 69-72. 

It was only later, in response to the County's second summary 

judgment motion a year and half after he received the County's 

exemption log listing the jail booking record, that McKee referred to the 

record and argued the County had his written authorization to release a 

copy of the record to him, citing Sargent v. Seattle Police Department, 

167 Wn. App. 1, 260 P.3d 1006 (2011), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, 
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179 Wn.2d 376,314 P.3d 1093 (2013). 1 CP 29. Even though McKee had 

not paid for copies, the County immediately mailed a copy of the record to 

McKee, including it with the County's reply. CP 23. 

At a hearing on July 18, 2013, the trial court dismissed this case in 

its entirety with prejudice. CP 5-6. The Court of Appeals affirmed that 

dismissal on May 18, 2015 in an unpublished decision and later denied 

McKee's motion for reconsideration. App. A (Unpublished Opinion); 

APP C (Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration). McKee timely filed 

this Petition for Review. 

III. ARGUMENT 

An award of costs related to the jail booking record is the only 

issue presented by McKee in this Petition for Review. It is a particularly 

1 Sargent v. Seattle Police Department was issued just three months before 
the County sent McKee the exemption log. Sargent clarified that when 
the subject of a jail booking record requests it through public disclosure, 
the statutory requirement of written permission is met. Prior to Sargent, 
the only published decision interpreting RCW 70.48.100 in the context of 
a PRA request was Cowles Pub! 'g Co. v. Spokane Police Department. 
139 Wn.2d 472, 481, 987 P.2d 620 (1999). In that case, the Court 
emphasized the mandate for confidentiality imposed by RCW 70.48.100. 

We conclude the specific language of RCW 
70.48.1 00(2) limits the use of booking photos to 
legitimate law enforcement purposes only. We affirm 
the Court of Appeals on this issue and hold that booking 
photographs do not fall within the disclosure mandate of 
the PDA. 

Cowles, 139 Wn.2d at 481(emphasis added). 
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ironic claim because the only reason McKee now has a copy of the jail 

booking record is precisely because the County mistakenly listed it on the 

exemption log. Had the County not mistakenly listed it, it would today be 

sitting on the CD with the 2,177 other pages of nonexempt records McKee 

requested but refused to pay for. 

The trial court properly dismissed this case in its entirety, the Court 

of Appeals properly affirmed, and for the reasons set forth below, 

McKee's Petition for Review should be denied. 

A. McKee Is Not A Prevailing Party 

In McKee's Petition for Review he claims he is entitled to remand 
' 

and an award of costs because the Court of Appeals "essentially" held that 

he was a prevailing party. Petition at 5. That assertion is incorrect. 

The Court of Appeals rejected McKee's PRA arguments, agreed 

with the County's position, and unequivocally affirmed the dismissal of 

the case. App. A (Unpublished Opinion) at 1, 6. And the Court of 

Appeals denied McKee's motion for reconsideration wherein he argued 

that he should "be properly designated the prevailing party." App. B 

(Motion for Reconsideration) at 4; App. C (Order Denying Motion for 

Reconsideration). There is no question that the Court of Appeals did not 

find McKee to be a prevailing party. 
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To be a prevailing party under the PRA, a requester must show that 

he or she prevailed in an action seeking the right to inspect or copy a 

public record. RCW 42.56.550. It is undisputed that McKee has never 

paid for the records responsive to his April2011 PRA request although 

they have been available for well over three years. And although he 

originally filed this lawsuit to challenge the scanning fee charged by the 

County, those claims were dismissed long ago and McKee did not 

challenge them on appeal. Yet he still has not paid the scanning fee and 

therefore still has not been provided with the records he requested except, 

of course, the jail booking record. 

McKee has a copy of the jail booking record only because 

immediate~y after he pointed out the County's error with respect to the 

record, the County mailed the record to him at no cost. Had the County 

not mistakenly listed the record on the exemption log, it would be sitting 

on the CD at the County's offices with the other thousands of pages of 

documents McKee requested but did not pay for. The County's mistake 

did not result in a denial of access; here, the County's mistake actually 

resulted in access to a record that McKee otherwise would not have had 

due to his own refusal to pay for the requested records. As the Court of 

Appeals stated, McKee's failure to pay for copies of the records he 

requested, "call[ed] into question whether he had a right to a copy ofthe 
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jail record even after he asserted that it had been wrongfully withheld." 

App. A (Unpublished Opinion) at 3. 

As the Court of Appeals properly held, McKee is not a prevailing 

party under RCW 42.56.550. He is therefore not entitled to a remand of 

this case or an award of costs. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' opinion 

is not in conflict with any opinion of the appellate courts in this state. 

B. There Is No Purpose For Remand 

As stated above, remand is not appropriate in this case because 

McKee is not a prevailing party. However, the Court of Appeals _also 

made clear that the further proceedings requested by McKee would be 

pointless in any event because McKee would not be entitled to penalties. 

Pursuant to RCW 42.56.565(1), an inmate may be awarded 

penalties under the PRA only if "the court finds that the agency acted in 

bad faith in denying the person the opportunity to inspect or copy a public 

record." McKee was incarcerated at the time he made his PRA request 

and he has not challenged the Court of Appeals' holding that "there is no 

basis for finding that the County acted in bad faith by withholding the jail 

booking record." Therefore, regardless of whether he prevailed or not, 

McKee is not entitled to penalties and remanding the case would serve no 

purpose. (McKee would also not be entitled to attorney fees because he 
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represented himself pro se at the trial court.) See Mitchell v. Dep 't of 

Corrections, 164 Wn. App. 597, 608, 277 P.3d 670 (2011).) 

IV. CONCLUSION 

The County respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for 

Review. McKee is not a prevailing party. The Court of Appeals 

unequivocally affirmed the trial court's order of dismissal and denied 

McKee's motion for reconsideration, soundly rejecting McKee's claim 

that he had somehow "prevailed." In addition, as the Court of Appeals 

observed, remand in this case would be pointless anyway with respect to 

McKee's request for penalties because there was no evidence of bad faith. 

Accordingly, because the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law, 

McKee cannot demonstrate that the panel's unanimous opinion is in 

conflict with a decision of this Court or any division of the Court of 

Appeals.